S278481

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN'S GRILL, INC. ET AL., Plaintiffs & Appellants,

v.

THE HARTFORD FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC. ET AL., Defendants & Respondents.

> AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR CASE NO. A162709

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

COMPLEX APPELLATE LITIGATION GROUP LLP

*Anna-Rose Mathieson (No. 231770) 96 Jessie Street San Francisco, CA 94105 (415) 649-6700 annarose.mathieson@calg.com

Melanie Gold (No. 116613) 600 West Broadway, Suite 700 San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 642 2929 melanie.gold@calg.com

STEPTOE & JOHNSON LLP

Issues Presented

1. Did the Court of Appeal improperly apply the illusorycoverage doctrine – which has traditionally been employed as an interpretive tool to ensure that an *exclusion* is not read so broadly as to withdraw virtually all coverage – to erase an express *condition* of coverage based on its conclusion that this *particular* insured would be unlikely to satisfy the condition, even though the condition does not withdraw all coverage?

2. Did the Court of Appeal err in finding that "simply wiping and cleaning surfaces" of imperceptible and evanescent viral "particulates" is enough to trigger coverage under a provision that conditionally covers "[d]irect physical loss or direct physical damage to Covered Property caused by . . . virus, including the cost of removal of the . . . virus"?

Introduction

John's Grill, a restaurant in San Francisco, purchased a property insurance policy that generally excludes coverage for virus-related losses. The policy contains an exception that provides limited coverage for viruses, but only when the virus is "the result of" a specific cause identified in the policy, and only when the virus causes physical loss or damage to the covered property. In holding that this policy potentially covers COVID-19related business losses, the Court of Appeal struck the first condition under the illusory coverage doctrine, rewriting the policy to provide unconditional coverage for virus-related loss or damage regardless of the cause. The court eliminated the second requirement by interpreting the phrase "loss or damage" to encompass wiping down surfaces even when the virus caused no physical loss or damage. Both holdings were error, and each error independently warrants reversal.

As to the first error, the policy provides limited coverage only when fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus is "the result of" a "specified cause of loss" listed in the policy (the "Limited Coverage"). (2AA 395-397.) These specified causes are all perils traditionally covered by property insurance, such as wind, water damage, and vandalism. Plaintiffs concede that their alleged losses do not result from any of these causes.

That should have ended the matter, and in the superior court it did. But the Court of Appeal struck the specified-cause condition from the contract. The court focused narrowly on the ways that a virus might affect John's Grill, and decided the specified-cause requirement rendered the Limited Coverage

illusory because defendant Sentinel Insurance Company had not shown "a realistic prospect" that plaintiffs would benefit from the virus coverage. (*John's Grill, Inc. v. The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc.* (2022) 86 Cal.App.5th 1195, 1224, as mod. Jan. 23, 2023, review granted Mar. 29, 2023, No. S278481.)

That is not how the illusory coverage doctrine works. Courts cannot rewrite policy language simply because every single provision in the policy will not benefit every insured. The policy is clear that the Limited Coverage does not apply in the absence of a specified cause, and California courts routinely enforce conditions on coverage. Because the specified-cause provision is a precondition for coverage, the policy does not appear to give coverage and then unexpectedly take it away. There is no coverage in the first instance. Put differently, there is no illusion, so the illusory coverage doctrine does not apply.

In addition, the doctrine does not apply because plaintiffs still received material coverage under the policy. In addition to all the coverage the policy as a whole provides, the Limited Coverage itself also covers loss or damage from fungi, wet rot, dry rot, and bacteria – perils that plaintiffs concede could result at John's Grill from specified causes of loss like water damage. And, as the Court of Appeal acknowledged, the specified causes could result in virus damage that would be covered for businesses under this policy. But the court narrowed its inquiry to focus only on whether this *particular* policyholder would likely benefit from a *specific* combination of perils and causes. That, too, was error.

It makes no sense to base the illusory coverage doctrine on a fact-specific analysis of the likelihood that each provision in a policy would benefit the individual insured. Property insurance contracts cover a wide variety of risks, many of them unlikely to affect every insured. Applying the Court of Appeal's test would mire courts in endless fact-specific analysis of illusory coverage claims, such as whether a particular business had enough of an electronic footprint to warrant electronic vandalism coverage. A court should not eliminate a clearly stated precondition of coverage based on its own assessment that the coverage would otherwise be unlikely to provide enough of a benefit to the specific policyholder.

For all these reasons, the Court of Appeal was wrong to rewrite the policy to eliminate the specified-cause condition. This Court should reverse on that ground, and it need go no further. Plaintiffs acknowledge that they have not satisfied the condition, so there is no coverage under the policy.

But there is also a second, and independent, reason for reversal. Plaintiffs did not suffer any physical loss or damage to their covered property, which is also necessary to trigger coverage.

The policy's basic coverage grant applies only when there is "direct physical loss of or physical damage to Covered Property." (2AA 292.) The application of this standard to the COVID-19 pandemic is before this Court in *Another Planet Entertainment*, *LLC v. Vigilant Insurance Co.*, No. S277893; in a nutshell, this common coverage term requires "'a distinct, demonstrable,

physical alteration' of the property" under long-standing California law. (*MRI Healthcare Center of Glendale, Inc. v. State Farm General Ins. Co.* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 766, 779.) No such alteration occurred here, as even the court below acknowledged.

The Court of Appeal thought a different standard should apply to the Limited Coverage, however, because it defines "loss or damage" to include "[d]irect physical loss or direct physical damage to Covered Property caused by 'fungi', wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus, *including the cost of removal of the* . . . *virus*." (2AA 396, italics added.) The court thought this language "capacious" enough to cover "simply wiping and cleaning surfaces," even in the absence of any accompanying physical impact on the property. (*John's Grill, supra*, 86 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1212, 1215.)

That misconstrues the plain language and surrounding context of the provision. The "cost of removal" is "includ[ed]" when there is "[d]irect physical loss or direct physical damage," and is expressly limited to the cost of removing "*the* . . . virus" that "caused" "[d]irect physical loss or direct physical damage to Covered Property." (2AA 396, italics added.) The surrounding context likewise shows that the covered loss or damage must have a physical nature. The "including the cost of removal" phrase cannot be viewed in isolation to cover wiping down tables in the absence of any physical loss or damage.

While it is possible for viruses to cause physical loss or damage to property, the *coronavirus* did not cause any physical loss or damage to plaintiffs' property. Nor did the virus result

from one of the specified causes of loss. The Court of Appeal erred on two grounds, and its judgment should be reversed.

Statement of Facts and Procedural History

John's Grill is a San Francisco restaurant owned by plaintiffs John's Grill, Inc. and John Konstin. (1AA 18-19.) Plaintiffs allege John's Grill suffered economic losses when its operations were reduced during the initial months of the COVID-19 pandemic. (1AA 82-83.)

A. The Policy

Plaintiffs bought a "Spectrum Business Owner's Policy" from Sentinel Insurance Company, Ltd. that was effective during the relevant period in 2020. (1AA 15-19; see generally 2AA 262-483 [certified copy of the policy].) In their amended complaint, plaintiffs sought to recover under certain provisions of the policy, including those that cover lost business income. (1AA 85-86.)

As plaintiffs allege, the policy is a "standard insurance product[] sold by [Sentinel] in markets throughout the country." (1AA 89.) Its provisions appear "not just in [plaintiffs'] Policy but in countless other policies sold by [Sentinel] in California and elsewhere in the nation." (1AA 89.) Because it aims to cover the insurance needs of many kinds of businesses, the policy includes coverage provisions that may benefit some policyholders more than others. (See, e.g., 2AA 273-274 [listing "Identity Recovery Coverage," "Electronic Vandalism," "Business Income for Cloud S[ervice] Interruption," and "Fraudulent Transfer Coverage"], capitalization omitted; 2AA 282 [summarizing coverage limits for "Fine Arts," "Laptop Computers," "Outdoor Signs," and "Unauthorized Business Car Use"].)

The provisions most relevant here are contained in the policy's "Special Property Coverage Form" (2AA 290-316), which includes the general grant of coverage, and the "Limited Fungi, Bacteria or Virus Coverage" (the "Endorsement"), which contains the Virus Exclusion and Limited Coverage (2AA 395-397).

1. The Special Property Coverage Form

The Special Property Coverage Form contains this basic grant of coverage:

We will pay for *direct physical loss of or physical damage to* Covered Property at the premises described in the Declarations (also called "scheduled premises" in this policy) caused by or resulting from a Covered Cause of Loss.

(2AA 292, § A, italics added.) "Covered Causes of Loss" means"risks of direct physical loss," except where excluded (in sectionB) or limited (in subsection A.4). (2AA 293, § A.3.)

Because the policy covers risks of direct physical loss unless excluded or limited in the policy (2AA 293), it is an "open peril" policy, as distinct from a "named peril" policy. (See *Julian v. Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co.* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 747, 751, fn. 2; Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation (The Rutter Group 2022) ch. 6B-C(1), ¶ 6:250.) And because open peril policies cover causes of direct physical loss unless excluded or limited, these policies tend to have many exclusions and limitations, and there are many exceptions or carve-outs to those exclusions and limitations. For instance, earthquakes, nuclear hazards, and government action are all listed in the exclusions, so damage from those perils is not generally covered. (2AA 307.) But each of those exclusions contains limited exceptions where coverage is added back in – for nuclear hazards, for instance, there is an exception to the exclusion if "physical loss or physical damage by fire results," in which case the policy covers that fire damage. (2AA 307, § B.1.c.)

On top of the core property coverage, subsection A.5 of the Special Property Coverage Form describes "additional coverages," which cover potential losses that might accompany direct physical loss or physical damage to property, such as debris removal (2AA 294-295, § A.5.b), and fire department service charges (2AA 297, § A.5.d).

Plaintiffs originally sought coverage under several "additional coverages," including Business Income and Extra Expense, contained in a separate income/expense endorsement. (1AA 83-86; 2AA 392-393.) Like the core property coverage, this requires that the business suspension "be caused by direct physical loss of or physical damage to property." (2AA 392-393, § A.1.)

2. The Endorsement

The "Limited Fungi, Bacteria or Virus Coverage" Endorsement expressly "modifies insurance provided under the ... [¶] Special Property Coverage Form." (2AA 395, capitalization omitted.) Like other policy provisions, this Endorsement is a

"standard insurance product[] sold by [Sentinel] in markets throughout the country." (1AA 89, \P 91.)¹

The Endorsement begins with a broad exclusion (the "Virus Exclusion"), which bars coverage for loss or damage caused directly or indirectly by fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus (2AA 395). These perils are added to the other exclusions (like earthquakes and nuclear hazards) set out in section B of the policy, so they are excluded from the policy's main grant of coverage. (2AA 395.) But the Endorsement also contains a narrow exception to the exclusion, which adds to the "Additional Coverage" section some coverage when the fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus itself results from certain defined causes. (2AA 396-397.) These two provisions are adjacent and cross-reference each other, with the Virus Exclusion first in the policy. (2AA 395-396.)

i. The Virus Exclusion

The Virus Exclusion bars coverage for "loss or damage caused directly or indirectly by . . . [¶] [p]resence, growth, proliferation, spread or any activity of 'fungi', wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus." (2AA 395, § A.2.i.) "Such loss or damage is excluded regardless of any other cause or event that contributes concurrently or in any sequence to the loss." (2AA 395.)

¹ Though plaintiffs allege that they paid an "additional premium" for the coverage provided in the Endorsement (1AA 89), the policy itself makes clear that premiums are set according to the declarations page, which simply provides a "total annual premium" for all insurance "stated in this policy." (2AA 270.)

The Virus Exclusion does not apply in three situations: First, "if 'fungi', wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus *results in* a 'specified cause of loss' to Covered Property," the policy "will pay for the loss or damage caused by that 'specified cause of loss.'" (2AA 395, § A.2.i.2, italics added.) That is, if fungi, etc. cause one of the traditional perils covered by property insurance policies (such as when wet rot results in water damage) that traditional peril is still eligible for coverage even though it was caused by fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus.

Second, if "'fungi', wet or dry rot, bacteria or virus results from fire or lightning," the Virus Exclusion does not apply and so any claims would be handled under the policy's main coverage grant, not under the Limited Coverage. (2AA 395, § A.2.i. Exclusion (1).)

Plaintiffs do not rely on either of those first two provisions, but only on the third provision: The Virus Exclusion does not apply "[t]o the extent that coverage is provided in the . . . Limited Coverage." (2AA 395, § A.2.i. Exclusion (2).)

ii. The Limited Coverage

The Limited Coverage directly follows the Virus Exclusion in the Endorsement. (2AA 396-397, § B.1.) It states:

a. The coverage described in 1.b. below *only applies when the "fungi", wet or dry rot, bacteria or virus is the result of one or more of the following causes* that occurs during the policy period and only if all reasonable means were used to save and preserve the property from further damage at the time of and after that occurrence.

- (1) A "specified cause of loss" other than fire or lightning;
- (2) Equipment Breakdown Accident occurs to Equipment Breakdown Property, if Equipment Breakdown applies to the affected premises.

(2AA 396, § B.1.a, italics added.)

The Limited Coverage thus depends on two express conditions precedent: *First*, the fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus at issue must result from a "specified cause of loss" (e.g., windstorm, hail, water damage) or an Equipment Breakdown Accident during the policy period.² *Second*, "all reasonable means" must have been used to "save and preserve the property from further damage." (2AA 396, § B.1.a.)

The policy defines "Specified Cause of Loss" to mean: "Fire; lightning; explosion, windstorm or hail; smoke; aircraft or vehicles; riot or civil commotion; vandalism; leakage from fire extinguishing equipment; sinkhole collapse; volcanic action; falling objects; weight of snow, ice or sleet; [and] water damage." (2AA 316.) These specified causes of loss mirror the traditional perils defined in "named peril" policies. (5 New Appleman on Insurance (Law Library ed. 2023) § 41.02.) The policy uses the specified-cause requirement in several other places to carve out exceptions to otherwise applicable exclusions where traditionally

² "Equipment Breakdown Accident" is separately defined in the policy. (2AA 295.) For simplicity, Sentinel focuses on the specified cause of loss part of the condition – but Equipment Breakdown Accidents are yet another way plaintiffs could meet the precondition in the Limited Coverage.

covered perils have contributed to the loss. (See, e.g., 2AA 294, 308-309.) For instance, coverage for "collapse" is generally excluded, but not when the "risks of collapse" are caused by a specified cause of loss. (2AA 294, § A.5.a.)

When both the specified cause of loss and the preservation of property conditions are satisfied, the Limited Coverage pays for "loss or damage" caused by the virus (or other peril) under subsection B.1.b:

- We will pay for loss or damage by "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria and virus. As used in this Limited Coverage, the term loss or damage means:
 - Direct physical loss or direct physical damage to Covered Property caused by "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus, including the cost of removal of the "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus;
 - (2) The cost to tear out and replace any part of the building or other property as needed to gain access to the "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus; and
 - (3) The cost of testing performed after removal, repair, replacement or restoration of the damaged property is completed, provided there is a reason to believe that "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus are present.

(2AA 396, § B.1.b.)

This Limited Coverage section also includes a subsection (B.1.f.) pertaining to Business Income and Extra Expense coverages that might accompany loss or damage caused by fungi, rot, bacteria, and virus (referred to as "Time Element Coverage,"

a commonly used insurance term that refers to coverage for losses during the time the property cannot be used). (2AA 396-397; see Firenze Ventures LLC v. Twin City Fire Ins. Co. (N.D.Ill. 2021) 532 F.Supp.3d 607, 614-615.) The Court of Appeal discussed these provisions in its opinion, although they are not central to the current proceeding. (John's Grill, supra, 86 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1217-1220.) Section B.1.f states that it applies "only if the suspension of 'operations' satisfies all the terms and conditions of the applicable" coverage in the lost business income and extra expense provisions in the policy. (2AA 396.) These income and expense provisions provide for coverage only "due to the necessary suspension of operations" during a "period of restoration" to "repair[], rebuil[d], or replac[e]" the "direct physical loss or physical damage caused by or resulting from a Covered Cause of Loss." (2AA 392-393, 315.) To obtain this coverage, the insured must show the business suspension was "caused by direct physical loss of or physical damage to the property." (2AA 392.)

B. Procedural History

Plaintiffs allege that John's Grill "was forced to close its doors to the public because of a series of orders issued by civil authorities" related to the coronavirus pandemic. (1AA 65.) Plaintiffs filed a claim with Sentinel, which denied the claim because "the coronavirus did not cause property damage at [their] place of business or in the immediate area" and, even if it had, loss or damage caused by a virus is excluded under the policy. (1AA 177.) Plaintiffs sued in April 2020 to recover under the policy. $(1AA 12-39.)^3$

Proceedings in the Superior Court
 In their amended complaint, plaintiffs alleged the
 government orders issued by state and local authorities
 "prohibited on-premises dining at John's Grill due to [the
 coronavirus] pandemic." (1AA 65; 1AA 82 ["The Closure Orders")

... prohibit[ed] customers from accessing and otherwise patronizing John's Grill for purposes of on-premises dining."].) As a result, plaintiffs claimed to have lost business income. (1AA 65; 1AA 85 ["John's Grill's lost income has been caused by the Closure Orders, which were issued due to droplets containing the Coronavirus being on surfaces and objects in the immediate area of John's Grill."].) Plaintiffs also alleged that John's Grill "would have had to close and suspend its operations" even without the government orders, "due to the worsening pandemic-level presence of the Coronavirus in, on, and around" its property. (1AA 83.)

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