No. S278481

FILED WITH PERMISSION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN'S GRILL, INC. et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

THE HARTFORD FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC. et al., Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR CASE NO. A162709

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Nanci E. Nishimura (SBN 152621) nnishimura@cpmlegal.com Brian Danitz (SBN 247403) bdanitz@cpmlegal.com *Andrew F. Kirtley (SBN 328023) akirtley@cpmlegal.com **COTCHETT, PITRE & McCARTHY, LLP** San Francisco Airport Office Center 840 Malcolm Road, Suite 200 Burlingame, CA 94010 Telephone: (650) 697-6000 Fax: (650) 697-0577

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

Argument

I. THE SPECIFIED-CAUSE-OF-LOSS CONDITION, AS APPLIED TO VIRUS, RENDERS THE LIMITED COVERAGE ILLUSORY AND THUS UNENFORCEABLE.

In the decision below, the Court of Appeal correctly held that the specified-cause-of-loss condition is indecipherable as applied to viruses; correctly articulated the illusory coverage doctrine; and correctly applied the doctrine to hold that the specified-cause-of-loss condition rendered the Limited Virus Coverage illusory, and thus unenforceable.

In doing so, the Court of Appeal carefully considered and ultimately rejected Sentinel's many contrary arguments. Now, before this Court, Sentinel repeats many of the same arguments, and in some instances advances versions that are even more far-reaching than those rejected by the Court of Appeal. The version of the illusory coverage doctrine that Sentinel urges on this Court would be a radical departure from existing law and put California far out of step with other states. The Court of Appeal's decision should be affirmed.

A. The specified-cause-of-loss condition does not make sense as applied to virus.

The specified-cause-of-loss condition requires that a policyholder seeking the Limited Virus Coverage show that the virus that caused its losses is itself "the result of" a "specified cause of loss." 2:AA:396 (§ B.1.a). Interpreting the Limited Virus Coverage according to the everyday, ordinary meaning of its words makes clear it is not illusory with respect to fungi or wet rot, both of which can certainly be "the result of" a specified cause of loss, such as "water damage." For example, certain kinds of water damage could create abiotic conditions (such as dampness and humidity) that are conducive to the establishment, growth, and reproduction of many species of fungi. It is easy to understand how this could lead to property damage for which a policyholder would desire coverage.

But the specified-cause-of-loss condition makes no sense when applied to an obligate intracellular pathogen such as a virus, which cannot reproduce outside a living host cell. 1:AA:75 (FAC ¶ 36). By contrast, the other perils named in the limited coverage can and often do reproduce outside a host organism, such as when fungus or mold spores land in a humid environment, grow, and proliferate. A virus is different. It may survive briefly outside a host organism (such as when virus is shed), but it cannot reproduce there. 1:AA:75 (FAC ¶ 36). Instead, viral reproduction (or replication) requires access to the metabolism of a living host cell. *See* 1:AA:75 (FAC ¶¶ 35-36). *Accord John's Grill*, 86 Cal.App.5th at 1221-1222.

In the decision below, the unanimous panel reached the same conclusion: "none of the listed causes has anything to do with the biological processes that actually cause a virus." *Id.* (quoting AA 396 [§ B.1.a]).

While the panel found it could make the language make sense by *changing* the wording ("Only if the words are taken to refer to circumstances in which a specified cause is a vector for transmission of a virus does the language begin to make any sense"), "that is not what the words say, and more importantly, it is not the only interpretation to which the phrase 'result of' is reasonably susceptible." *Id.* "The applicable principles for interpreting insurance contracts do not compel us to resolve the ambiguity by placing a gloss on the text of the Policy, friendly to Sentinel, so that Subparagraph B.1.a. makes sense as applied." *Id.* at 1222. In so ruling, the Court of Appeal followed the same approach that this Court took in *Safeco*, when it declined to save an ambiguous "illegal act" exclusion that rendered coverage illusory re rewriting is to be a "criminal act" exclusion. *Safeco Ins. Co. v. Robert S.* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 758, 764.

In response, Sentinel insists that the specified-cause-of-loss condition as applied to virus is entirely "clear" and "unambiguous" (Op. Br. 32, 34, 37, 49), but it declines to address directly the ambiguities identified by the Court of Appeal. Instead, it brings in ancillary arguments, none which advance the ball. It argues that California courts enforce unambiguous conditions (*id.* 30-31), which is true but beside the point.

Sentinel makes much about the condition being written into the Limited Virus Coverage instead of lurking in some other part of the policy (*id.* 31-32), but it is difficult to see how that matters if the condition itself is indecipherable. Moreover, the argument ignores that the endorsement is located 134 pages into the policy, and once there neither defines nor provides any clue about where to find the definition for the key phrase: "specified cause of loss." As it turns out, the definition is located 80 pages before the Limited Coverage in the definitions section of the Special

Property Coverage Form. *Compare* 2:AA:396 (§ B.1.a) ("specified cause of loss" condition), *with* 2:AA:316 (§ G.19) ("specified cause of loss" definition), *and* 2:AA:295 (§ A.5.c) ("Equipment Breakdown" definitions).

In the final analysis, Sentinel wrote an endorsement with a specifiedcause-of-loss condition that simply makes no sense as applied to virus. The condition renders the Limited Virus Coverage illusory, and thus the requirement cannot be enforced. *See Julian v. Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co.* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 747, 756 (explaining that California courts reject insurers' attempts to enforce "language that would have rendered the policies' coverage terms *virtually illusory*"); *Howell v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.* (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 1446 (expressing concern that enforcing policy language as written would give insurance companies "carte blanche to deny coverage in *nearly all cases*").

B. The Court of Appeal correctly articulated and applied the illusory coverage doctrine to hold the specified-cause-of-loss condition rendered the Limited Virus Coverage illusory, and thus was unenforceable.

In response to the Court of Appeals' careful articulation and application of the illusory coverage doctrine, Sentinel continues to argue it can show the coverage is not illusory by identifying a single hypothetical scenario in which John's Grill would be able to satisfy the condition. Sentinel's only support for this assertion was, and continues to be, a case in which a policyholder contended that a tornado had "transmitted" a virus onto his farm and infected some of his pigs, and the insurer declined to dispute that contention before the Nebraska Supreme Court. *See Curtis O. Griess & Sons, Inc. v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co. of Neb.* (Neb. 1995) 528 N.W.2d 329, 331 ("*Griess*") ("Defendant does not dispute that the pseudorabies virus was transmitted to plaintiff's farm by the windstorm."). The fact that Sentinel has convinced a handful of trial courts to adopt its erroneous reading of *Griess* via cursory analyses of that decision is not persuasive. *See John's Grill*, 86 Cal.Ap.5th at 1225-1228. The stubborn fact remains that *Griess* simply does not establish the factual proposition for which it is being cited.

And even if this were otherwise, "an insurer cannot avoid an illusory coverage problem by simply conceiving of a single hypothetical situation to which coverage would apply," as "the likelihood of coverage" would still be "sufficiently remote to be deemed illusory." *Great Northern Ins. Co. v. Greenwich Ins. Co.* (W.D. Pa. May 12, 2008, No. 05-635) 2008 WL 2048354, at *5, quoting *Monticello Ins. Co. v. Mike's Speedway Lounge, Inc.* (S.D. Ind. 1996) 949 F.Supp. 694, 701, and *Meridian Mut. Ins. Co. v. Richie* (Ind. 1989) 540 N.E.2d 27, 30. Stated slightly differently, courts will apply the illusory coverage doctrine even when they are convinced of "some small circumstance[s] where coverage could arguably exist." *Martinez v. Idaho Counties Reciprocal Mgmt. Program* (Idaho 2000) 999 P.2d 902, 907. This is because illusory coverage is a matter of degree not absolutes.

The Court of Appeal appropriately distinguished the livestock virus cases (*Griess* and a similar case, *Qualls*) as having little bearing on the virus-related risks underwritten by Sentinel in insuring a San Francisco restaurant:

We fail to see with these oddball scenarios have to do with this case. ... John's Grill is not a farm ... [T]he test for illusory coverage must focus on objective reality and the insured's reasonable expectations of coverage. [citation] Imaginary

exercises involving pigs caught in windstorms [*Griess*] and cows encountering wild animals [*Qualls*] will not do.

It takes more than a "a mere drafting fiction" to overcome a well-pleaded illusory coverage argument. [citation] Where an insured properly raises the issue of illusory coverage, as John's Grill has done here, unsubstantiated speculation, untethered to the insured's actual business circumstances as underwritten by the insurer, is not enough to defeat the argument. [citation] Because Sentinel has not proffered enough to demonstrate a realistic prospect of John's Grill ever benefitting from the Limited Virus Coverage based on events the parties might reasonably have anticipated during the Policy period, we agree that Sentinel has, "through sweeping language," rendered the Policy's virus coverage terms "virtually illusory." [citation]

Id. at 1224.

The Court's ultimate conclusion—that "Sentinel has not proffered enough to demonstrate a realistic prospect of John's Grill ever benefitting from the Limited Virus Coverage based on events the parties might reasonably have anticipated during the Policy period," *id.* at 1224—is consistent with the prevailing illusory coverage statndard that a policy provision need not completely eliminate coverage in order to render that coverage illusory."

The prevailing view is that the ICD [illusory coverage doctrine] can be triggered by exclusions that do not completely eliminate the possibility of the policyholder benefiting from the coverage in question. Courts have varied, however, in how they describe the degree to which an exclusion must eliminate coverage in order to trigger the ICD. One common ... formulation of this non-absolutist standard is that coverage is illusory when there is no 'reasonably expected set of circumstances' under which the policyholder would be able to collect benefits from the policy.

See Ian Weiss, *The Illusory Coverage Doctrine: A Critical Review* (2018)
166 U. PENN. L.R. 1545, 1561 (citing cases); see, e.g., Karas v. Liberty Ins.
Corp. (Conn. 2019) 228 A.3d 1012, 1038-1039 (doctrine applies when
insured risks against risk for "a particular peril ... would not result in
coverage under any reasonably expected set of circumstances"); Hanover
Ins. Co. v. Vemma Int'l Holdings Inc. (D. Arz. July 29, 2016, No. 1601071) 2016 WL 4059606, at *8 (interpreting Arizona law to hold coverage
is illusory if it "would result in no payment of benefits under any
reasonably expected circumstances"); Haag v. Castro (Ind. 2012) 959
N.E.2d 819, 824 (doctrine applies when "the policy "would not pay benefits
under any reasonably expected set of circumstances"); see also Thomas v.
State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. (Ky. 2021) 626 S.W.3d 504, 506 ("when an
insurer's interpretation of a contract term would deny the insured 'most if
not all of a promised benefit").

C. Sentinel's alternative formulation of the illusory coverage doctrine lacks merit.

Sentinel urges the Court to limit any future use of the illusory coverage doctrine to an "interpretive tool" that applies only to ambiguous (1) *exclusions* (i.e., not to coverage conditions), and (2) only if the broader reading of the exclusion(s) would eliminate all coverages promised under *the entire policy* (3) for *all policyholders* (i.e., not just the contracting parties). Every aspect of Sentinel's proposed rule is wrong. It articulates a version of the illusory coverage doctrine that is virtually unrecognizable from how it has been articulated and applied by courts in California and across the country. It should be rejected.

1. The doctrine applies to all provisions that are capable of limiting the scope of coverage, not just exclusions.

Sentinel's argument that the illusory coverage doctrine applies only to *exclusions* and not to coverage *conditions* is incorrect. This litigationdriven proposal is unsound, in part, because it is based on a semantic distinction that makes no legal or economic difference, as exclusions and conditions (as well as limitations, definitions, etc.) both perform the same *function*: limiting the scope of coverage. As one court noted: "Exclusions and conditions are in effect two sides of the same coin." *PAJ, Inc. v. Hanover Ins. Co.* (Tex. 2008) 243 S.W.3d 630, 635.

Yet, according to Sentinel, the illusory coverage doctrine should apply only when an insurer reduces the scope of coverage to the vanishing point by means of an exclusion, and not when it does the very same thing by using a coverage condition or definition. *Cf. Pena v. Viking Ins. Co. of Wisconsin* (2022) 169 Idaho 730, 737-738 (noting doctrine applies when promised coverage is taken away by a policy "definition"). Such a rule would signal to insurers that they could avoid the illusory coverage doctrine by simply rewriting their exclusions as conditions, without any impact on the amount of risk being underwritten. Perhaps this is why Sentinel often qualifies and softens its advocacy on this point. *See, e.g., Cf.* Op. Br. 29 ("doctrine has *generally* been applied only to exclusions, not conditions"); Op. Br. 31 ("doctrine has *typically* been applied to exclusions on coverage, not conditions").

In sum, Sentinel's exclusion-versus-condition argument is a semantic distinction-without-a-difference that makes no sense analytically and improperly elevates form over substance. *See* Cal. Civ. Code § 3528 ("The law respects form less than substance."); *Hicks v. Bd. of Supervisors*

(1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 228, 237 ("The end attained and not the form of the transaction must be considered by the court in determining its substance and legal effect."); Schisler v. Mitchell (1959) 174 Cal.App.2d 27, 29 ("It is an ancient axiom that the law regards the substance of the words used rather than their form"). This Court has previously applied the substance-overform principle in the insurance and other contractual contexts. *Wm. R.* Clarke Corp. v. Safeco Ins. Co. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 882, 890 (holding insurer could not enforce a "pay if paid" contractual because it had "the same practical effect" as a statutorily prohibited "waiver of mechanic's lien rights"); Steiner v. Thexton (2010) 48 Cal.4th 411, 418 (noting that a contractual "label is not dispositive" and that courts must "look through the agreement's form to its substance"); see also Grand Prospect Partners, L.P. v. Ross Dress for Less, Inc. (2015) 232 Cal.App.4th 1332, 1356, as modified on denial of reh'g (Feb. 9, 2015) (courts "must determine a contract provision's true function and operation when evaluating its legality" and concluding that California law "does not allow unreasonable penalties or forfeitures simply because they are imaginatively drafted as contractual conditions"). The Court should reject the notion that the illusory coverage doctrine applies only to exclusions.

2. The doctrine protects insureds ending up with illusory coverage for individual coverages, as well as entire policies.

To avoid the conclusion that the Limited Virus Coverage is illusory, Sentinel argues the illusory coverage doctrine applies only if John's Grill receives no material benefit from any of the other coverages in the Limited Coverage endorsement (Op. Br. 12, 41-42), or even fails to receive any "material coverage under the policy" as a whole (Op. Br. 12). This is an

erroneous view that reads the word "virus" out of policy, in violation of basic contract interpretation principles and the reasonable expectations doctrine.

Sentinel's rule makes little sense. It would seem to allow, for example, a policyholder who has illusory virus coverage set forth in his own endorsement to bring a successful illusory coverage claim, but to prevent another policyholder with the exact same illusory virus coverage from bringing the same claim simply because her limited coverage is lumped in an endorsement with other (non-illusory) coverages. Both policyholders should have the same claim. To rule otherwise would be to ignore insureds' reasonable expectations and, once again, elevate form over substance. *See* Cal. Civ. Code § 3528; *Hicks v. Bd. of Supervisors* (1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 228, 237.

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